brought to you by T CORE





Engaging NHS system leaders in whole systems approaches to physical activity

Contents

Executive summary	4
Chapter 1: Introduction	8
Chapter 2: Methods	13
Research design	13
National stakeholder interviews	13
Local case studies	13
Analysis	14
Whole systems webinar	14
Ethics	15
Chapter 3: Results	16
Chapter 4: Discussion	26
Engaging and integrating the NHS in whole systems approaches to promoting physical activity	26
Between-site variation	28
Strengths and limitations of research	28
Barriers to engaging the NHS	29
Enablers for engaging the NHS	30
Chapter 5: Key messages and opportunities for action	33
Key messages	33
Opportunities for action	33
Chapter 6: Concluding remarks	37
The implications of the COVID-19 pandemic	37
Chapter 7: Glossary	38
References	41
Appendix 1: Case studies	44
Dorset case study	44
Essex case study	47
Kirklees case study	50
South Tees case study	52
Appendix 2: Interview schedule	55

Engaging NHS systems leaders in whole systems approaches (WSA) to physical		
activity (PA): interview questions	55	
Appendix 3: Making the case outline	59	

Executive summary

Introduction

Low levels of physical activity are a major public health challenge, contributing to the national burden of non-communicable disease and demand on health and social care services. Addressing the lack of physical activity in the population is a complex issue, a classic 'wicked problem' that requires a whole systems approach.

Public Health England (PHE) is currently supporting whole systems approaches to physical activity as a key element in the Whole Systems Approach to Obesity and through partnering with Sport England to support 12 local delivery pilots (LDPs). There are however a number of examples of systems approaches to promoting physical activity without the support of a LDP, with the development of these diverse local approaches providing a useful natural experiment to learn from.

The focus of this project was to explore the role of NHS systems leaders in whole systems approaches to increase physical activity including how and what is needed to engage and support them in these, and how to integrate this with local government led place-based approaches.

Methods

The research was conducted on the principle of co-production between the University of the West of England, Bristol (UWE Bristol) and PHE. This was a qualitative study based on semi-structured interviews with national stakeholders and local informants from 4 case study sites. Initial findings, themes, enabling factors and barriers were shared in a webinar in April 2020 to test and explore the findings, and inform the final report.

Results

Ten themes emerged from the analysis of the data which were:

- the importance of a shared vision
- collective systems leadership is crucial, not individual system leaders
- systems leadership is needed at all levels of the system
- place-level is a crucial focus for physical activity work
- relationships are crucial; relationship-building really important
- enthusiasm and commitment are as important as formal seniority
- there is a key facilitation role on physical activity for public health across the system
- a range of resources is required
- central pressures are driving siloed working
- quantifiable outcomes are wanted in unrealistic short timescales

Across the 4 case studies, there were a number of common barriers and enablers for engaging the NHS in whole systems approaches to physical activity.

Common barriers were:

- capacity for the NHS and other sectors
- NHS culture
- engaging the acute sector
- difficulty in demonstrating quantifiable impact in the short to medium term
- difficulty in seeing opportunities for innovation that do not involve significant new resources
- maintaining long-term partnership relationships at a time of organisational change and staff turnover
- the whole systems concept and terminology may not always be recognised or seen as relevant by those in the NHS

Common enablers were:

- recognising and facilitating shared system leadership
- key individuals or core teams championing the whole systems approach
- a key facilitation role for public health across the system
- balancing senior buy-in with working with enthusiasts
- taking time to build relationships and develop a shared vision
- utilising system mapping
- development support for systems leadership

Key messages

A whole systems approach to physical activity should recognise that NHS system leaders may include a wide range of NHS actors working at a variety of levels.

Building long-term high quality personal relationships and trust are key factors in enabling system leadership on physical activity.

Engagement with and championing of physical activity by clinicians and within clinical pathways can be a highly effective way of engaging NHS staff in promoting physical activity and developing their role in whole system approaches.

Making physical activity a priority at Integrated Care System (ICS)/ Sustainability and Transformation Partnership (STP) level means it then appears throughout the system and with other regional bodies.

Taking a whole systems approach to physical activity is in keeping with current NHS policy the move to ICSs and Primary Care Networks (PCNs), and the wider prevention

agenda. However, other policy streams send different short-term messages and drivers to the NHS.

Local authorities, and Active Partnerships can play a key role in supporting NHS engagement in whole systems approaches to physical activity.

Promoting physical activity for good physical and mental health, through COVID-19, offers new opportunities to build on consistent messages and to engage the NHS in whole systems working on physical activity.

Opportunities for action

The report presents a breadth of possible opportunities for action across the system at all levels from local places through to national. It is important to recognise that these opportunities will vary, and some flexibility is needed, in accordance with the structures, priorities and roles of the systems at differing levels. The full list of opportunities can be found in Chapter 5, with example opportunities from across the system detailed below:

For organisations working at regional and national level including PHE, NHS England and NHS Improvement (NHSE&I) and Sport England

Consider how the impact of different NHS policy decisions and drivers can positively impact on the degree to which the NHS engages at different levels of the system, with the physical activity agenda.

For ICSs and STPs

Ensure that population health and population health management programmes recognise the important role of physical activity as a key part of a holistic approach and facilitate a joined-up approach to embedding physical activity in commissioning plans.

For CCGs and NHS trusts

Ensure physical activity is integral to place-based health and wellbeing strategies, working with wider partnership bodies led by local authorities.

For those at neighbourhood or PCN level

Ensure that community health services are supported to integrate the promotion of physical activity into clinical and social care via social prescribing, workplace health promotion and community engagement.

For local authorities and health and wellbeing boards (linking with Active Partnerships)

Align and connect (but do not subsume) physical activity with obesity whole systems approaches at local level and seek to engage all NHS organisations (in particular NHS trusts) in a shared vision for physical activity.

Strengths and limitations

Strengths of this study include that it captured views from a diverse range of local areas and stakeholder who were engaged in promoting physical activity through a whole systems approach. These findings have been validated by both respondents and a wider group of stakeholders. The limitations include that this study is not representative but rather is illustrative of the experiences of selected local areas. This research also commenced as the Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic began to affect the UK, which unfortunately impacted on the availability of some key stakeholders for interviews.

Chapter 1: Introduction

Background

Physical activity and systems approaches

Low levels of physical activity are a major public health challenge, contributing to the national burden of non-communicable disease and demand on health and social care (1, 2, 3). Lack of physical activity is a complex issue, that is the consequence of societal, cultural, economic and environmental changes over time that cannot be solved by individual sectors or players. Data demonstrate that declining physical activity is a greater issue in high income countries and, in the UK, has been in decline since the 1960s, although recent figures suggests this may have stabilised (4).

Our understanding of the drivers and potential solutions of complex issues has developed significantly in the last 5 to fifteen years (for example through work undertaken by Government Office for Science's Foresight Tackling Obesities Future Choices – Project Report (5) and academics). 'Whole systems working' at national and local levels is supporting the translation of this knowledge into practical place-based action rooted in and driven by local context, needs, assets, aspirations, partnerships and leadership. Rutter and colleagues have described the underpinning thinking necessary behind a whole systems approach:

"Systems thinking provides a framework to help examine the factors involved in a problem, the relations between these factors and changes over time; it views actions as integrated across political, social, cultural, economic and scientific domains within a system. A system is more than the sum of its parts, encompassing the interactions between these parts and the actors involved. This approach differs from traditional linear models of cause and effect that underpin much of the existing evidence base and takes account of factors such as adaptation, the ways in which a system responds to interventions within it, and feedback, which drives some of those responses (6)."

The national physical activity framework, 'Everybody Active Every Day' (7), and World Health Organization's 'Global Action Plan on Physical Activity' (8) and subsequent work (9) has suggested the specific potential of whole systems approaches to address declining physical activity and its associated negative impacts on health and wider outcomes. It also identifies a unique role for health and social care systems in increasing population physical activity, both through direct interventions and indirectly through local leadership. UK specific evidence also demonstrates direct and preventable costs to both the NHS and social care systems (10).

Public Health England (PHE) is currently supporting whole systems approaches to physical activity as a key element in the PHE 'Whole Systems Approach to Obesity' (10) (although the benefits of physical activity extend much further than tackling obesity), and

is already working closely with the NHS through a variety of initiatives including the PHE/Sport England Physical Activity Clinical Champions, Active Hospitals and the wider Moving Healthcare Professionals Programme (11, 12, 13).

A key recent systems initiative has been to partner with Sport England to support 12 local delivery pilots (LDPs). The PHE 'Whole Systems Approach to Obesity' (14) and Sport England LDPs are helping to mainstream and support local areas with systems thinking and approaches across obesity and physical activity agendas. The 'Whole Systems Approach to Obesity' is a practical guide accompanied with tools and resources to support local areas across England with implementing whole systems approaches to tackle obesity, with increasing physical activity an integral part of the approach. As part of its systems obesity work, PHE commissioned a systematic review from Leeds Beckett University (15) on whole systems approaches to obesity and other public health problems which helpfully documents the key features of a systems approach (Table 1).

The 12 Sport England LDPs are testing systems approaches to increase physical activity in local communities:

"We've chosen 12 places we'll work with on bold new approaches to build healthier, more active communities across England. Around £100 million of National Lottery funding will be invested through these places in the pilot scheme over 4 years, to create innovative solutions that make it easier for people in these communities to access sport and physical activity.

"By focusing intensely in 12 areas, we want to identify better ways to address the stubborn inequalities and break down the barriers that stop people choosing to be active, such as poor transport, safety, cost and confidence. And we want to encourage wider, collaborative partnerships which look at how all parts of a community can better work together to help the most inactive. From the transport links and street lighting to the quality of parks and open spaces, to how sport and activity is promoted by GPs. Partnerships will encompass organisations beyond the sport sector such as voluntary groups, social enterprises, faith organisations and parenting groups (16)."

There are, however, also a number of examples of systems approaches to promoting physical activity in areas of England without the additional support of a LDP for example Move More Sheffield and North Kesteven (one of the pilot sites in the whole systems obesity programme). A key driver of local physical activity approaches are the Sport England funded Active Partnerships. There are 43 partnerships across England and whole systems work is integral to the programmes mission, which recognises that "[physical] activity levels are affected by a complex system of influences and no single organisation or programme [can] create sustainable change at scale (17)." The development of diverse local approaches to whole systems working on physical activity

in areas with and without LDPs provides a useful natural experiment to learn from. Local places that are implementing whole systems approaches are engaging different sets of stakeholders in their areas, but in general local authorities and Active Partnerships have been central to these partnerships with communities, with varied levels of engagement from local NHS organisations.

Table 1: Ten features of a systems approach to tackle public health		
problems		
Identifying a system	Explicit recognition of the public	
	health system with the	
	interacting, self-regulating and	
	evolving elements of a complex	
	adaptive system. Recognition	
	given that a wide range of	
	bodies with no overt interest or	
	objectives referring to public	
	health may have a role in the	
	system and therefore that the	
	boundaries of the system may	
	be broad.	
	An explicit goal to support	
Capacity building	communities and organisations	
	within the system.	
	Mechanisms to support and	
Creativity and innovation	encourage local creativity and/	
	or innovation to address public	
	health and social problems.	
	Methods of working and specific	
	activities to develop and	
Relationships	maintain effective relationships	
·	within and between	
	organisations.	
	Clear methods to enhance the	
	ability of people, organisations	
	and sectors to engage	
Engagement	community members in	
	programme development and	
	delivery.	
	Mechanisms to support	
Communication	communication between actors	
	and organisations within the	
	system.	

Embedded action and policies	Practices explicitly set out for public health and social improvement within organisations within the system.
Robust and sustainable	Clear strategies to resource existing and new projects and staff.
Facilitative leadership	Strong strategic support and appropriate resourcing developed at all levels.
Monitoring and evaluation	Well-articulated methods to provide ongoing feedback into the system, to drive change to enhance effectiveness and acceptability.

Source: Bagnall et al. 2019 (11)

NHS and whole systems approaches

Recent changes to NHS structures, including the development of integrated care systems (ICSs)¹ and primary care networks (PCNs), and the greater NHS commitment to prevention and population health management, present an opportunity for strengthening the role of the NHS and care systems within whole system approaches and to learn how best to engage the NHS in whole systems approaches to physical activity in terms of prevention at primary, secondary and tertiary level.

The 'NHS Long Term Plan' (18) has emphasised the critical role that the NHS plays in prevention and as a key "anchor institution" in local communities. Anchor institutions are large, public sector organisations that are called such because they are unlikely to relocate and have a significant stake in a geographical area – they are effectively 'anchored' in their surrounding community. They have sizeable assets that can be used to support local community wealth building and development, through procurement and spending power, workforce and training, and buildings and land (19). The important role that NHS organisations play in their communities as anchor institutions has been explored by the Health Foundation (19) particularly with respect to the large numbers of staff employed.

The 'Long Term Plan' identifies 3 important levels at which decisions are made. These are:

- neighbourhoods (populations circa 30,000 to 50,000 people) served by groups of GP practices working with NHS community services, social care and other providers to deliver more coordinated and proactive services, including through primary care networks
- places (populations circa 250,000 to 500,000) served by a set of health and care
 providers in a town or district, connecting primary care networks to broader services
 including those provided by local councils, community hospitals or voluntary
 organisations
- systems² (populations circa 1 million to 3 million) in which the whole area's health and care partners in different sectors come together to set strategic direction and to develop economies of scale (20)

Purpose and research questions

The purpose of this research was to explore with key system stakeholders in the NHS, local authorities and other sectors:

- the role of NHS systems leaders in whole systems approaches to increase physical activity aligning with their prevention and population health management remit
- how and what is needed to engage and support the NHS role in whole systems approaches to increase physical activity

Following from this purpose, there were 2 key research questions, which were:

- What is required to engage and integrate key NHS systems leaders in systems approaches to promoting increased physical activity in local populations, working together with local authorities, and other local systems leaders?
- What are the local and national barriers and enablers that discourage/encourage collaboration across the system?

COVID-19

This research commenced in January 2020 just as the COVID-19 pandemic began to affect the UK, and fieldwork took place during February and March as the pandemic increasingly affected the NHS and local authority public health teams. This unfortunately impacted on the availability of some key stakeholders for interviews, in particular Regional Directors of Public Health (RDPHs) and ICS/STP-level stakeholders.

² It should be noted that in the NHS and more widely the term 'systems' is used both to describe the local system across which a whole systems approach is taken and to describe this specific ICS organisational form, whilst either meaning may be present in this report the context should make it clear which is being referred to.

Chapter 2: Methods

Research design

This research was conducted on the principle of co-production between the University of the West of England, Bristol (UWE Bristol) and PHE, that is there was close working and collaboration between the 2 partners in the planning and management of the project. PHE was particularly involved in identifying relevant national stakeholders and potential case studies. UWE Bristol approached individuals and case studies for involvement and conducted the data collection and analysis. Both partners took part in planning and contributing to a webinar where the initial analysis was discussed and the learning and implications explored.

This was a qualitative study based on semi-structured interviews with national stakeholders and local informants from 4 case study sites (21). The interview schedule is included in Appendix 2. Interviews were undertaken by telephone or Skype, audio-recorded and transcribed by a professional transcription service. Corrected transcripts were imported into NVivo-12 for analysis (see below).

National stakeholder interviews

Sixteen national stakeholders who worked across different parts of the national system and had an interest/expertise in systems approaches, physical activity and/or local decision making were identified as potential interviewees. The aim of these interviews was to gain a high-level overview of NHS engagement in whole systems activity. Stakeholders identified included those from NHS England and NHS Improvement (NHSE&I), Sport England, the Leadership Centre, the Local Government Association, Active Partnerships and other parts of PHE (for example RDPHs and physical activity clinical champions). Eight national stakeholder interviews were sought and obtained.

Local case studies

Potential case studies were identified by discussion with the PHE national team, PHE places and region physical activity leads, NHSE&I and Sport England. Selection was based on seeking maximum diversity across 5 criteria which were:

- at least one of the 12 Sport England LDPs
- other examples where local partners have adopted systems approaches to increasing levels of physical activity in their local areas
- an area with more developed ICS
- at least one area with low baseline levels of physical activity
- geographical diversity across England

Eight potential local sites for case studies were identified which met the selection criteria and 4 were approached, based on consensus of opinion and ensuring a diverse range of sites was included.

Each case study commenced with liaison with a key local contact with whom up to 5 other local stakeholders were identified for interview. Again, maximum diversity was sought within this number by seeking local authority, NHS and other sector informants. Informants were sought at different levels of the local system as defined in the NHS 'Long Term Plan' that is neighbourhood (primary care network), place-level (local authority, clinical commissioning group and or/ NHS trust) and the system-level (ICS/STP). A total of 22 informants were interviewed across the 4 case studies.

Analysis

Thematic analysis was undertaken in NVivo-12, with both deductive codes (codes derived from the research questions) and inductive codes (codes emerging from the data) (22). Two of the research team (DE and EB) independently coded half of the transcripts each, and independently organised the coded data into themes; the 2 sets of themes were then compared, and a high degree of overlap was found between the 2 sets of initial themes (10 common themes out of 12 identified by each researcher). Through discussion within the research team a final set of 10 themes was identified and agreed.

Whole systems webinar

Initially a whole-day whole systems event was planned with national and local case study stakeholders to discuss and test the initial findings, however due to COVID-19 restrictions, this was changed to a two-hour webinar held in April 2020. The aims of the webinar were to:

- explore and test the findings from the case studies and the national interviews
- discuss and agree the nature of outputs from the project which will be of use to national and local stakeholders

Invitations were extended to all national interviewees, case study participants and other national stakeholders and local partners engaged in whole systems approaches to physical activity. Fifteen participants attended the webinar in addition to the UWE Bristol and PHE teams. During the webinar a summary of the project findings were presented to participants who agreed that these were themes they recognised and experienced. Further useful insights and implications and suggestions for future work were shared, and the preferred nature of outputs from the project discussed. Bullet point notes on the discussion were independently recorded by 4 members of the UWE Bristol and PHE teams; key points raised are summarised in Chapter 3 and have informed the discussion

in Chapter 4 and have been synthesised and prioritised into the key messages and opportunities outlined in Chapter 5.

Ethics

An assessment of potential ethical risks was undertaken prior to submission for ethical review and the project was considered to be relatively low risk as there was no need or intention to collect sensitive personal data. The main potential risks identified concerned possible breaches of confidentiality and data protection. The protocol and associated ethical material (participant information sheet, consent form, privacy notice) were reviewed by the UWE Research Ethics Committee and approval given to proceed, reference HAS.20.01.095. In the Results that follow, each interviewee has been given a code to preserve anonymity; N for national and L for local interviewees.

Chapter 3: Results

National respondents

Sixteen national stakeholders were approached for interviews of whom 8 were interviewed. Interviewees came from NHSE&I, PHE, the Local Government Association, the Leadership Centre, Active Partnerships and Sport England.

Local case studies

Each of the 4 approached local areas agreed to be a case study. The 4 selected were Dorset, Essex, Kirklees and South Tees (see Appendix 1 for a summary of each case study). In each site, discussions were held with a key local contact who helped identify at least 5 other potential interviewees. Again, due to COVID-19 pressures a number of potential interviewees were unavailable, but in the end 6 interviews were held in each of 2 sites, whilst 5 interviews were held in the other 2 sites

Themes

Ten themes emerged from the analysis of the data which were:

- the importance of a shared vision
- collective systems leadership is crucial, not individual system leaders
- systems leadership is needed at all levels of the system
- place-level is a crucial focus for physical activity work
- relationships are crucial; relationship-building really important
- enthusiasm and commitment are as important as formal seniority
- there is a key facilitation role on physical activity for public health across the system
- a range of resources is required
- central pressures are driving siloed working
- quantifiable outcomes are wanted in unrealistic short timescales

The importance of a shared vision

A common theme in the wider literature on systems leadership (23), our informants also emphasised the importance of developing a shared vision (sometimes called a common purpose) for a whole systems approach to physical activity.

"First and foremost, common purpose. A group of people who are really clear about what it is that they want to do and why and for whom and what they're committing to is going to mean for every person or every organisation around that table. And so, it means talking things through from the start, not just decreeing something and then expecting other people, other organisations or sectors to come on board."

(National non-NHS stakeholder, N6)

Informants recognised that developing a shared vision does not happen spontaneously and may take some time and effort to come to agreement on.

"I think spending a little bit of time to understand whether or not there is actually a shared vision and shared values and kind of shared function across partners, because quite often what we've found is that we might assume that everybody thinks this particular thing and then when you actually do a little bit of work with people you realise there's a bit more of a distribution of, like, different attitudes or beliefs about whatever it is you're talking about. So, having that clarity or common purpose, is I think really important."

(Assistant Director of Health and Communities, L8)

It was also recognised that the exact original shared vision may not be achieved in its envisaged form, but that the process of developing a shared vision was important in enabling wider necessary changes.

"We have a vision of a destination in sight – whether we will ever get to that, truly get to that destination or not, is less important, I think, than actually the fact that we're on that road and keep going along that road and keep heading in that direction, because, if we do that, we will make the differences that we need to make, and there'll always be another challenge and another issue that we've got to deal with. But I certainly think people feel empowered to be able to go and do that. We don't have to sit and wait to be told to go and start having conversations with people, and I think that's probably one of the key areas that has never been forced upon us but has certainly been enhanced and promoted through the work that we've been doing."

(Development Manager, Sports & Physical Activity, L17)

Collective systems leadership is crucial, not individual system leaders

Whilst our remit was to ask about how to engage NHS systems leaders, many of our informants felt we were not asking the right question.

"So, I think from your question in terms of who are the right people, I'd almost flip it around and think about how we can get the system to ensure that physical activity is embedded as part of the approach to population health and population health management, is a tool in which to ensure that they are actually utilising the evidence to invest in the right things to make physical activity more prevalent in the community."

(National NHS stakeholder, N5)

Instead of focusing on those in senior NHS positions, informants emphasised the importance of systems leadership at all levels and in all sectors, including members of the community.

"We need to develop system leaders and that mind-set of everybody is a system leader."

(Consultant in Public Health, L18)

"In our systems leadership work we took a conscious decision to focus the bulk of our effort on people who are not already in formal leadership roles."

(Place Programme Director, L19)

Some informants were more comfortable with the concept of champions rather than leaders.

"If you've got a systems leader who's leading from the front, if they then go, possibly it all crumbles down behind them... So, we're trying very hard in terms of the way that our systems leadership is working, not to have that kind of single system leader. I mean, we do have champions, but we don't have a single system leader because we don't want it to be all resting on one person and when that one person goes it all kind of just fizzles away; we want it to be about distributed leadership. Everybody understands their role but also feels that they can be a leader of their part."

(Consultant in Public Health, L5)

Systems leadership is needed at all levels of the system

We asked informants about systems leadership at different levels of the system (ICS), place (local authority and/or CCG) and neighbourhood, and the need for systems leadership was recognised at all 3 levels.

"So, physical activity at a neighbourhood level is very different obviously from something you do at a system level which might look at actually how do we look at our public transport and encourage walking as part of that? Or how do we set up in place levels sort of walking routes like they have in [town]?"

(National NHS stakeholder, N5)

Although needed at all 3 levels, the focus of systems leadership for physical activity would thus be very different at the different levels.

"Within the ICS we have a number of collaborative transformation programmes, the things we are working on collectively across the whole system. Some of those are the classic NHS themes like mental health, urgent care. But we also have what we call an improving population health programme, and that brings together a number of themes like prevention of ill health, but also the work we are doing on the wider determinants of health, also things like climate change."

(ICS Director, L20)

Place-level is a crucial focus for physical activity work

The last ICS informant went on to explain the rationale for what was done at the different levels, in particular why the place-level was the appropriate focus for physical activity

work, and that the ICS had an explicit process for deciding what issues to address at a system level.

"[We] need to think about the tests we set ourselves for when it's appropriate to work at system level rather than organisational or place level. Our default is that things that need to be done in health and social care will be done locally, in our neighbourhoods, the primary care networks, operating in our 6 places. And by exception we will, there may be things that are worth doing at scale, across the whole [ICS name] system level."

(ICS Director, L20)

Another participant emphasised the importance of:

"the local place-based alliances as the delivery arms of the ICS where the place agenda and the health inequalities and LDP relationships really lie. We have great shared leadership in the alliance and the governance for the LDP is aligned through there to ensure we shared ownership of the obesity agenda."

(CCG Accountable Officer, L14)

Overall, the place-level was the arena that most of our informants focused on, and they would often return to discussions of involvement at the place-level with community organisations and local communities even when asked specifically about NHS engagement. And within the NHS, most responses focused on the involvement of CCGs, and to a lesser extent PCNs, rather than the acute sector or ICSs.

"I think it's very difficult to get acute trusts or even community providers, to be honest, to kind of have a very, very specific conversation about what is their role in increasing the amount of physical activity, because I think you'd get batted away very, very quickly."

(Place Programme Director, L19)

Relationships are crucial; relationship-building is really important

Another theme from the wider systems leadership literature strongly reflected in our data was the importance of consciously building and sustaining relationships (10,11,19).

"The key with this is about building those relationships with those people who work in fields that you might not have previously consciously thought of engaging with so that you're not left out of those conversations when they do take place and that people actually think about it, and I think that relationship-building is really, really important."

(Development Manager, Sports & Physical Activity, L17)

"So, it's not just all the big wigs in the local system getting together and saying we are going to work together. You know it's probably richer and deeper and more organic than that."

(National non-NHS stakeholder, N1)

Several informants stressed the very long-term nature of relationship building.

"The work started in 2013, so it's taken quite a long time, I think, to get the right people in place and the right ideas, kind of spread around the system about the approach that we want to take. I would say 5 or 6 years ago the kind of space we were in was 'physical activity, that's public health, let's start a project' and where we are now is lots and lots of people across the system recognising that being clear on providing brief and very brief physical activity interventions is you know, a quick and easy thing that they can do."

(Director of Public Health, L3)

Several others also emphasised the value of the bidding process for building and sustaining relationships, even when in some cases the bids were not successful.

"We've worked with a number of partners to bring money into the city around physical activity, and I think, you know, bringing the money in is great but actually just the process of working with people is a really valuable endeavour as well."

(PHE Physical Activity Clinical Champion, N7)

Enthusiasm and commitment are as important as formal seniority

A number of our informants stressed that finding and working with partners with enthusiasm and commitment was as important as formal seniority; the phrase 'coalition of the willing' was used several times.

"I think first and foremost it's about the individuals in the places and finding a small group of people, you know, a coalition of the willing...and coming together informally."

(National non-NHS stakeholder, N6)

"Where I've seen these system leaders operate really well is that – it's where it's a kind of senior clinician who really understands that they need to be doing something differently and they can then go back and start to win over the acute trusts and say to the medical director, look, why is it that we're not looking outside the walls of our hospital? We need to be doing more than this. I think they can be a really strong ally if you can find them in a local system."

(National NHS stakeholder, N4)

There was one very striking example described by several informants in one case study, with different perspectives but telling a very consistent story of the importance of individual enthusiasm, rather than purely the place in a management hierarchy.

"You know without blowing my own trumpet, which I don't actually do very often, but I had to fight with the team really, because they had other agendas and I was saying, you know, I need help here, we need to get this report [on a physical activity pilot programme] out. Then when it got out, everybody realised, why I'd made a fuss about it, I could see, you know, rather than the shop floor fire fight that we faced day to day, I

could see in the distance why this would be instrumental and why it might be a... not a game changer for us, but an important piece of work." (NHS Consultant, L10)

"We are genuinely so lucky that we've got [name, NHS Consultant] locally. And somebody with that kind of passion for physical activity in himself, because he is really passionate about physical activity per se. It is like gold dust to people like us at that level in an organisation."

(Advanced NHS Public Health Practitioner, L6)

There is a key facilitation role on physical activity for public health across the system

Despite the diversity of our case studies, in each case the local authority public health team played a crucial facilitating role in bringing together and sustaining a whole systems approach to physical activity.

"I guess my personal reflection would be that we've become, it's going to sound a bit weird this, but we have become a bit less 'public healthy'... there was a tendency in the past for public health teams to be viewed as teams of technical experts... We tended to be on the outside, sort of chipping in. We don't work so much like that anymore as a team. About 3 years ago we decided to train most of our team in client centre consulting methods which is just a way of basically just getting the consultants to listen a bit more. Understand how some of these challenges might look in the eyes of partner organisations of the system, and to become more skilled at developing ownership that rests with the organisations that make up our local system."

(Director of Public Health, L3)

"Let's focus on [local authority] just as it's the specific site for you, I would expect the director of public health to be working closely with the accountable officer of the 2 CCGs, and her senior team, so I'd suggest that they would be the 2 senior leaders in the system for that particular place."

(ICS director, L20)

Public health teams played this role at every level – system, place and neighbourhood.

"We now have a public health worker, a link worker, who works with every primary care network. We've tried to embed a public health approach and they will bring the strategy to [authority name] around physical activity, whether that's children and young people, adults of working age, or the elderly. They'll try and help bring that strategy into the front line of primary care networks where the GPs are working with all their local partners in that environment. So, what we're starting to see now is the real green shoots."

(ICS Clinical Lead, L2)

A range of resources is required

Resources were an important issue, but it was not necessarily the case that the additional resources provided by LDP status were seen as an essential enabler for system-wide action; it was equally important to think about how to mobilise existing local financial, human and knowledge resources.

"We still have commissioners and as long as we've still got commissioners, we've still got capability to change the way that we incentivise providers. So, we can do something there in terms of saying, 'well, actually, let's not worry about CQUINs3 coming down from on high to promote physical activity; let's do that locally'."

(National NHS stakeholder, N4)

"There are some places where I think the individuals often come together despite the system rather than because of it. They won't say, 'no, I can't do this because of the financial pressures on me', but 'I can do this'. I don't think that they are necessarily everywhere, but I think there is a real willingness to work, and a lot of people expending time and other resources, you know, really committing to work together."

(National non-NHS stakeholder, N6)

Nevertheless, both the bidding process itself and if successful, the additional financial resources could be a key catalyst for action.

"I started having conversations with my public health colleagues in [area]. I met with the director of public health, or a couple of them as it was at the time, this was 2015 I think, '16 and said, look, I think we should just get a [physical activity] programme up and running. They were keen, the CCG were keen, the trust was keen, but nobody had any money. Our usual story. So, after wasting about a year trying to get people to release money I decided just to apply for a Health Foundation Innovation Grant. In September '17 I got a Health Foundation Innovation Grant and I got some small match funding from the CCG, trust and Public Health and we ran a pilot. And, basically, this has enabled us to start this seamless piece of work, where the Health Foundation funded the original pilot, but the LDP funding has now enabled us to take that work forwards into a further 3 years."

Leadership programmes, as exemplified by the Kirklees Integrated Systems Leadership Development Programme in our case study, could also be important local resources.

³ Commissioning for Quality and Innovation, a NHS quality improvement tool.

Central pressures are driving siloed working

In terms of barriers a number of informants talked about the continued central pressures for siloed working, and in particular what some interviewees referred to as a NHS culture of command and control.

"Sometimes I think NHS England, less so around CCGs, because I think they get the local system, but I think national players don't always see themselves in the picture, and I think they have a different culture, which is very much a centralised command and control culture."

(National non-NHS stakeholder, N2)

"The thing about the NHS, and it is a central command and control model, so if the Secretary of State says jump, then the NHS jumps. I mean there's a few different heights to jump maybe locally but that's the, they usually have a target how high they've got to jump. So actually I think the key for Public Health England, the drive to achieve physical activity in the NHS would be to set central targets, central expectations in order that they do so because they work very well to the command and control model.

Otherwise you can work locally with them but sometimes it's about box ticking..."

(Director of Public Health, L13)

Quantifiable outcomes are wanted in unrealistic short timescales

Closely related to the theme of siloed working was the issue of wanting to see quantifiable outcomes in unrealistically short timescales, particularly within the NHS performance management culture.

"I also think the organisations that we're working with are relatively risk-averse — probably because they have to be. So, working with, for example, local authority, NHS, primary schools, they're quite risk-averse organisations. Changing, doing something differently, the implications can be quite huge, obviously, if it goes wrong in some cases — in some areas. Well, they have very robust, you know, processes of how things get signed off, how they get agreed, what are the protocols for different services, and how things have to be delivered and quality-measured — all for good reason. That sometimes challenges your ability to be innovative and do things differently."

(Local non-NHS stakeholder, L1)

Respondents involved in the evaluation of whole systems work on physical activity, particularly related to LDPs, discussed the difficulties of evaluating impact and outcomes given the complexity of the factors influencing people's choices around physical activity.

"It all boils down to, and it's never easy in my view to be able to evidence separate interventions impact in a way you can say X saves Y."

(National NHS stakeholder, N5)

"It is really hard to measure on a population basis and again we've been working with quite a lot of national expert groups on this and we're kind of, despite my best efforts we're kind of moving away from it. I think that the levels of increase in physical activity one might see in an LDP given the sort of background noise are very, very difficult to identify a real change."

(Director of Public Health, L13)

Areas identified by webinar participants

At the whole systems webinar in April 2020, the 15 participants identified a number of specific areas for advancing the NHS engagement in whole systems approaches to physical activity:

There has been a very clear message through the COVID-19 lockdown that daily exercise is necessary for mental and physical health. Although it may be that overall levels of physical activity declined due to COVID-19 restrictions, particularly for those in older age groups, with disabilities and those who were shielding, the clear message to get out and take exercise every day during the lockdown was seen as one to build on across systems at local level. They were also keen that work in this area that had been suspended by COVID-19 remained a priority in the recovery phase.

NICE guidance contains a lot of physical activity recommendations embedded within clinical pathways which though sometimes hard to find, can be synthesised and built upon. For example, there are opportunities around the draft NICE guidance on prehabilitation for orthopaedic surgery (24). These provide a first opportunity to engage health professionals in promoting physical activity, which could then potentially lead to system wide engagement.

The medical royal colleges are influential and very involved in the development of care pathways; thus, working with the royal colleges could be a real opportunity to embed physical activity into care pathways in a way that would support a whole systems approach.⁴

There is real value in sharing real world experiences of systems working on physical activity. Stories matter; people listen and can change their mind-sets. More case studies would be good to bring messages to life.

24

⁴ PHE is already working with some royal colleges, notably the Royal College of General Practitioners on whole systems approaches to physical activity (see for example https://www.rcgp.org.uk/about-us/news/2019/august/gp-practices-supported-to-recommend-active-lifestyles-to-patients-and-staff.aspx)

RDPHs have an important role in the new NHS structures. They provide an important potential resource to influence the NHS on promoting physical activity at the regional and ICS/STP level.

NHS organisations need evidence to make the case of the financial and patient benefits for the NHS engaging in systems approaches to physical activity within the one to 3-year time scales they have to work to, rather than the longer term over which public health interventions are often seen to work.⁵

ICS prevention and population health management leads are key actors who need to be engaged in whole systems approaches to physical activity.

There may be opportunities to support and engage the NHS workforce around whole systems approaches to physical activity through population health management and leadership courses.

_

⁵ Some research has already been done in this area (25, 26), but more evidence and synthesis is needed to effectively makes the case to NHS organisations.

Chapter 4: Discussion

Engaging and integrating the NHS in whole systems approaches to promoting physical activity

Research, inquiry and informed commentary over decades have highlighted the challenges the NHS faces in shifting the balance from treatment and care to prevention. From 'Prevention and Health' (27) in the 1970s to the 'Wanless Report' (28), and most recently the 'NHS Long Term Plan' (18) and the 'Prevention Green Paper' (29), the need for the NHS to refocus on prevention and population health has been cogently made.

Whilst it is easy to make the case for change it is more difficult to see how to enable the change in practice in such a complex system as the NHS, where a focus on treatment and care is driven by a range of factors including popular conceptions of health and illness, medical culture, political timescales, economic interests and a focus on short term performance targets and plans. It is perhaps unsurprising that promoting physical activity sits alongside other public health and prevention issues in being topics with which it can be difficult to fully engage the NHS.

However, opportunities to facilitate this do exist. There is an emerging evidence base including academic commentaries (1, 6), systematic reviews (3, 10) and evidence-based reports (2, 7, 8) which describe whole systems approaches either specifically to physical activity or to obesity, which can easily and equally be applied to physical activity. These offer opportunities to engage the NHS in system wide approaches, highly consistent with the direction of travel in the 'NHS Long Term Plan', the development of population health management approaches and ICSs. In particular ICSs are uniquely well placed to engage with whole systems working as they have been established precisely to ensure an integrated approach to improving population health and minimising or avoiding siloed working.

Increasingly the important role of NHS organisations as anchor institutions within communities (19) is being recognised and understood, and this brings new opportunities. For example, NHS organisations can be exemplars in supporting active travel for staff, visitors and patients (30). Thus, it is clear the NHS can and should play a key role in whole systems approaches to promoting physical activity. The question therefore is not what the NHS should be doing, but how to support NHS organisations to recognise and undertake their role in promoting physical activity both within their own organisations and across local systems. This is not just about the NHS prioritising and doing work on physical activity but about being active partners in shared system leadership across every level of the system from neighbourhood to national. NHS actors need to recognise their place in the system both within their own organisations but also as partners advocating for collective action across the system and working in

partnership to strengthen and align approaches. Where NHS trusts are carrying out work to embed physical activity across their culture and process, for example, they need to ensure their work aligns with other action across the local system and share their good practice and learning about enablers and barriers with partners locally and nationally.

One key message to come out of this research is that a whole systems approach requires rethinking who we view as NHS systems leaders, away from only those in senior management or senior clinical roles to include a wide range of NHS actors working at a variety of levels. Thus, we also need to widen the focus of our first research question to include how we engage and integrate the range of NHS actors in whole systems approaches to promoting physical activity. Everyone potentially has a role in this from the General Practitioner (GP) receptionist, to the GP to the CCG accountable officer, the Director of Public Health (DPH), the ICS director of transformation to the chief executive of NHSE&I. And all these different actors will have different roles to play in a whole systems approach to physical activity. We suggest some of the opportunities for action to engage the NHS in whole systems approaches to physical activity at these different levels in Chapter 5.

At all of these levels there is an opportunity for NHS actors to play a role in wider formal and informal partnership bodies concerned with health and wellbeing, in developing shared visions for physical activity, in system mapping, aligning actions and developing and implementing action that addresses physical inactivity within the context of the complex factors which shape individual and community choices around health and wellbeing.

As well as contributing to formal and informal partnerships NHS leaders can also take practical steps to promote physical activity for staff, visitors and patients as part of a whole systems approach. This should include the whole organisation, from logistics and estate management to human resources and working patterns. Practical steps that can be taken include developing active travel plans, outside space, and adopting established programmes such as Moving Healthcare Professionals and Active Hospitals. Physical activity should be embedded within staff health and wellbeing programmes, and NHS staff should be encouraged to be advocates for physical activity within their communities and outside traditional boundaries.

Taking a whole systems approach to physical activity is entirely in keeping with current NHS policy on population health management, the move to ICSs and PCNs, and the wider prevention agenda; the issue is that other policy streams, in particular around NHS performance, financial and quality management, may send different short term messages and drivers to the NHS which may not encourage or facilitate engagement with the physical activity agenda where the benefits mainly accrue over a longer term timescale. There was a sense that the COVID-19 pandemic has highlighted the importance of physical activity to health, both physical and mental wellbeing, and that

there is an opportunity to build on this in the recovery phase. However, it must be acknowledged that there are particular barriers and challenges to those in older age groups, with disabilities, shielding, and living in areas with lack of access to high quality green space (31).

While we have good evidence on the value of and models for whole systems approaches to physical activity, there is little existing evidence on how best to effectively engage the NHS in whole systems approaches. This is the gap in evidence that this research has sought to help fill. We know that such culture change in the NHS can be challenging and take time, but evidence from other policy areas such as clinical governance, patient safety and patient-focused care show that it can be done (32).It should also be noted that one of the research participants observed that NHS partners can also find local authority culture a barrier to engaging, so that effective whole systems working on physical activity may require greater culture understanding and culture change across and within wider organisations. By examining the examples of how the NHS was engaged in our 4 case studies, the barriers they experienced and the enabling factors that supported engagement, this small study can contribute to the knowledge base on how to engage the NHS in whole systems approaches to physical activity. There are lessons to be learnt here both by NHS actors but also by the wide range of partners who need to support and engage the NHS in these whole systems approaches.

Identifying who within the NHS system to engage with around physical activity and who feels that whole systems working is within their remit can be difficult. Whilst clinical champions within trusts have shown evidence of active engagement, it may not always be easy to identify who to engage in partnership working around whole systems approaches. There are opportunities to clarify these roles and empower these staff to participate.

Between-site variation

The 4 case studies were chosen to achieve maximum diversity across 5 criteria: including levels of physical activity, development of integrated care systems, and engagement in the Sport England LDPs. Thus the 4 sites presented distinct examples of whole systems working with different emphases; there was, however, a congruence of themes across all sites, with no notable conflicting accounts regarding any of the themes identified.

Strengths and limitations of research

The strengths of this study are that it successfully explored the views of those working in diverse settings around England from a wide range of different parts of the system engaged in promoting physical activity through a whole systems approach. The findings

were validated by respondents and by a wider group of stakeholders at a webinar. The limitations include that it is a small scale qualitative study with a relatively small sample size in each case study, completed over a short time period, that not all participants conceptualised their work in the language of whole systems (and so focused more narrowly on interventions to promote physical activity). Local stakeholders were likely to be those with an interest in physical activity, so the research may not capture the views of senior clinicians, managers and others who did not believe that this was within their remit or a priority area. Some local areas not known to NHSE&I, PHE or Sport England may have had different experiences to those selected as case studies. Respondents did not identify any individuals working in NHS facilities, transport or estates to be interviewed, although they might be important agents of change at local level due to their responsibilities for aspects like travel and parking. Due to unplanned COVID-19 pressures in most local areas high level ICS system leads and nationally RDPHs were not available for interview.

The findings of this research are summarised below as barriers and enablers. Key messages and opportunities arising from the key themes, enablers and barriers are then presented in Chapter 5.

Barriers to engaging the NHS

Capacity

A clear message from across the case studies was that everyone in the NHS – and other sectors – has many competing priorities, and their capacity to engage with the physical activity agenda is often experienced as limited.

NHS culture

Respondents perceived that drivers from NHS performance management focus on clinical treatment and care, quality and finance, and despite the stated commitment to prevention, do not currently encourage a refocus on the long-term benefits of engaging with promoting physical activity.

Engaging the acute sector

Across the case studies there was considerably more engagement with CCGs and primary and community care than there was with the acute sector. Promoting physical activity was still something that was not usually seen as acute sector core business.

Difficulty in demonstrating quantifiable impact in the short to medium term

The main benefits of greater physical activity are likely to accrue over a long-time period – 5 to 10 years or more (29) – whilst the NHS is looking for short term reductions in indicators like bed days and GP visits.

Difficulty in seeing opportunities for innovation that do not involve significant new resources

Although our key informants did not necessarily see a lack of resources as a barrier to innovation around physical activity, their experience was that other stakeholders in the NHS and other parts of the system often did.

Maintaining long term partnership relationships at a time of organisational change and staff turnover

Systems working is enabled by long term partnerships which themselves are facilitated by long term relationships, but these are often disrupted by continuing organisational change and related staff turnover in the NHS.

The whole systems concept and terminology may not always be recognised or seen as relevant by those in NHS

There may be an opportunity to learn how to increase understanding in the sector from work in other sectors, for example Sport England offer a leadership programme around Systems Leadership, punctuated with stories – a 3-day programme targeted to all sectors – and comprises presenters, stories and personal experiences from local level.

Enablers for engaging the NHS

Across our 4 case studies there were a number of common enablers which were identified as supporting the engagement of the NHS in whole systems approaches to physical activity. These are consistent with the literature on systems leadership outlined in the systematic review by Bagnall (15).

Recognising and facilitating shared system leadership

In each of our case studies there was an explicit commitment to both a whole systems approach to physical activity at the place level (local authority and CCG level within the NHS), and to facilitating shared systems leadership. This took different forms, for example by engaging CCG accountable officers in the place-based 'keeping active' leadership groups.

Key individual or core team championing the whole systems approach

Although overall leadership needs to be shared, it was clear from our case studies that motivated individuals or small core teams working across local authorities and the NHS (particularly in CCGs) could and did make a difference in championing the whole systems approach to physical activity.

Key facilitation role for public health across the system

All actors brought their different knowledge and skills to the table, but public health professionals uniquely were seen by those in the system to have the evidence-based knowledge about effective physical activity interventions, the understanding of systems approaches, the partnership skills and the remit to play a key facilitation role in promoting physical activity across sectors including in the NHS. This was recognised by those in the NHS. In some cases, this expertise and resources was provided through Active Partnerships and their role working with and in local authority public health teams.

Balancing senior buy-in with working with enthusiasts

Gaining 'buy-in' from senior managers in the NHS was seen as important (particularly to secure any necessary financial support) but it was recognised that they would often or usually have little time to personally engage, and once they had given broad approval for physical activity work, they might have relatively little engagement with or knowledge of the detail. Achieving real change was therefore often achieved more by working opportunistically with enthusiasts, whatever their formal status or level of authority whilst securing in principle support and buy-in from those in more senior leadership positions.

Taking time to build relationships and develop shared vision

The themes of the importance of relationship building (including the time it takes build trust in relationships) and developing shared vision (sometimes referred to as common purpose) and shared values were not only present in our case studies but reflect key features of the wider literature on whole systems approaches and leadership (14,15,23).

Utilising system mapping

Those of our case studies which began with a systems mapping exercise found it a very valuable experience both for the intelligence it gleaned but also for the time it provided for thinking and relationship building between all partners, including those from the NHS.

Development support for systems leadership

All our case studies provided some support for the development of systems leadership, in particular in one case, an innovative programme across sectors and with those not in formal senior leadership roles. Such a place-based systems leadership programme

could be an important mechanism for developing the necessary collective ownership and shared values for whole systems working on physical activity.

Chapter 5: Key messages and opportunities for action

Key messages

A whole systems approach to physical activity should recognise that NHS systems leaders may include a wide range of NHS actors working at a variety of levels. Whilst senior manager support is important, there is a need to engage a wider range of NHS actors.

Building long-term high quality personal relationships and trust are key factors in enabling system leadership on physical activity.

Engagement with and championing of physical activity by clinicians and within clinical pathways such as pre-habilitation can be a highly effective way of engaging NHS staff in promoting physical activity and developing their role in whole system approaches.

Making physical activity a priority at ICS/STP level means it then appears throughout the system with other regional bodies in planning and transport, and at clinical commissioning group (CCG), primary care network (PCN) and trust level.

Taking a whole systems approach to physical activity is entirely in keeping with current NHS policy on population health management, the move to ICSs and PCNs, and the wider prevention agenda. However, other policy streams, in particular around NHS performance, financial and quality management, send different short-term messages and drivers to the NHS.

The response and recovery phases for COVID-19 may offer new opportunities to build on the consistent messages of the importance of daily physical activity for good physical and mental health, to extend to engaging the NHS in whole systems working on physical activity (for example on active travel). There will however continue to be barriers to be addressed for those with disabilities, Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic communities, older adults and those who are shielding.

Opportunities for action

These opportunities present possible areas of action at organisational level, with an indication of potential responsible organisations. It is important to recognise this will vary and be flexible in accordance with the structures, priorities and roles of the systems at national, regional and local levels. In line with a whole systems approach these

partnership opportunities are likely to be influenced and supported by the range of stakeholders and organisations, therefore whilst one or multiple organisations may take a lead there will be a need for shared ownership and action across organisations and level (local, regional and national).

For organisations working at regional and national level including PHE, NHS England and NHS Improvement (NHSE&I), Sport England

Understand what is needed to ensure ICS population health and population health management programmes recognise the important role of physical activity as a key part of a holistic approach to prevention and improving people's physical, mental and social health and wellbeing.

Consider how the impact of different policy decisions and drivers around NHS performance and quality management, funding and workforce development, can positively impact on the degree to which NHS organisations and professionals engage with the physical activity agenda.

Support ICS/STP leads in this work through formal or informal networks (for example via RDPHs or the Population Health Management Academy(33)).

Support the development and dissemination of learning and networks from areas with good engagement with the NHS in whole systems approaches.

Ensure that the principles of whole systems approaches are embedded within NHS leadership and population health management programmes.

Include learning and information sharing on physical activity whole systems approaches to physical activity at key NHS webinars, events and conferences and in NHS policies and guidance.

Develop and disseminate easily accessible resources on physical activity that would support conversations with different audiences within the NHS to develop whole systems approaches at local level, for example infographics, case studies, stories, identification of menu of points amenable for change in local systems (for example upskilling staff, clinical pathways, impact on workforce sickness absence; active travel by staff, visitors and patients; system mapping tools). A possible approach to 'making the case' documents is provided in Appendix 3.

Consider an evidence review on the financial and other benefits for the NHS of increasing population physical activity by patients and staff that would really speak to senior NHS leaders.

Work with medical royal colleges and faculties to ensure their members are aware of importance of physical activity to health and wellbeing and can see its role in clinical pathways, prevention and chronic disease management.

Seek opportunities to develop and embed systems approaches into existing or new systems leadership programmes, to support partnership working across local and regional systems.

For ICSs and STPs

Ensure that population health and population health management programmes recognise the important role of physical activity as a key part of a holistic approach and facilitate a joined-up approach to embedding physical activity in commissioning plans.

Facilitate a joined-up approach to embedding physical activity in commissioning plans work with strategic partners to embed promotion of physical activity into spatial and transport planning.

Recognise and utilise the role of physical activity for mitigation and building health resilience within COVID-19 response and recovery planning.

Identify a lead champion with responsibility for engaging with other partners in whole systems approaches to physical activity.

For CCGs and NHS trusts

Ensure physical activity work is integral to place-based health and wellbeing strategies, working with wider partnership bodies led by local authorities concerned with health and wellbeing.

Embed physical activity within clinical pathways.

Recognise their own role as anchor institutions to promote physical activity and active travel within their own staff and local population.

Identify a lead champion with responsibility for engaging with other partners in whole systems approaches to physical activity.

For those at neighbourhood or PCN level

Ensure that general practice and other community health services are supported to integrate the promotion of physical activity into clinical and social care via social prescribing, workplace health promotion and community engagement.

For local authorities and health and wellbeing boards (linking with Active Partnerships)

Map physical activity systems across the place working in conjunction with other stakeholders including NHS organisations across the local system.

Align and connect (but do not subsume) physical activity with obesity whole systems approaches at local level.

Seek to engage all NHS organisations in a shared vision for physical activity recognise that bringing partners together to bid (for example Active Hospitals, LDPs) is helpful in catalysing action irrespective of the success of the bid.

Showcase and share examples of successful systems approaches to physical activity, to the local ICS/STP and more widely.

Identify a lead champion with responsibility for engaging with other partners in whole systems approaches to physical activity.

Chapter 6: Concluding remarks

The implications of the COVID-19 pandemic

This research has taken place during the most unprecedented global, national and local public health crisis caused by the COVID-19 pandemic. As was clear to participants in our webinar, the need for the NHS to engage in a whole systems approach to physical activity, and for other issues such as obesity, is likely to become more urgent in the light of COVID-19. There appears to have been a net decline in physical activity in England during the initial COVID-19 lockdown, with a disproportionate impact exacerbating existing inequalities for key groups, including those with or at risk of health conditions (34); there has been an ongoing declining in activity levels from April 2020 to September 2020, with levels seemingly stabilising below pre-COVID-19 levels (35). Figures from the leisure sector suggest negative short and long term consequences, with half of leisure sectors not reopening after the initial lockdown and many facilities at risk of long-term closure (including one in 5 swimming pools) (36). Furthermore issues within the health care system include delays in care for those with long term conditions that physical activity can help manage and risks of fragility and falls from individuals deconditioning through lack of activity (37). Physical activity is both part of the Government's COVID-19 recovery plan (38) but will also be important for managing non-COVID-19 related demand on health and care services.

What is crucial is that the NHS and its partners including local authorities, PHE and Sport England continue to work together in partnership to develop and deepen whole systems approaches to promoting physical activity. Learning on how to do this is captured in our case studies, in the LDPs and in other local examples of whole systems working on physical activity. It is highly encouraging that the need for this whole systems approach is widely shared by key national organisations including NHSE&I, PHE and Sport England as well as local health and wellbeing partnerships. Sport England for example are developing their new 5-year strategy for 2021-25 explicitly on a whole systems basis, framed around the key themes of 'purpose,' 'people,' 'place' and 'partnership' (39). These themes reflect and reinforce themes from our data and our key messages of the importance of shared vision, collaborative systems leadership, place-based focus and building and sustaining relationships. Although the urgency of the COVID-19 response will inevitably have diverted some attention and resources away from physical activity work in the short term, the opportunity is there longer term to more fully and effectively engage the NHS in whole systems working on physical activity.

Chapter 7: Glossary

There are many different perspectives on whole-systems and place-based approaches with systems language sometimes used differently across organisations. An overview of whole-systems approach concepts and behaviours is available in the Whole Systems Approach to Obesity guide (14). The following table describes how terms are used in this document.

Active	Locally based strategic organisations funded by Sport
partnerships	England who work collaboratively with local partners to
	create the conditions for an active nation (17)
Anchor	Large, public sector organisations that are unlikely to relocate
institution	and have a significant stake in a geographical area. They
	have sizeable assets that can be used to support local
	community wealth building and development, through
	procurement and spending power, workforce and training,
	and buildings and land.
Integrated	Integrated care systems (ICSs) have evolved from
Care System	Sustainability and Transformation Partnerships (STPs). NHS
(ICS)	organisations, in partnership with local councils and others,
	take collective responsibility for managing resources,
	delivering NHS care, and improving the health of the
	population they serve (40).
Neighbourhood	A level of ICS served by groups of GP practices working with
level	NHS community services, social care and other providers to
	deliver more coordinated and proactive services, including
	through primary care networks (populations circa 30,000 to
	50,000 people) (20).
Place-based	Focuses on how the local system can work together utilising
approaches	civic, service and community centered approaches to reduce
	health inequalities. For more information please see PHE
	Place-based approach guidelines (41).
Place level	A level of ICS served by a set of health and care providers in
(NHS)	a town or district, connecting primary care networks to
	broader services including those provided by local councils,
	community hospitals or voluntary organisations (populations
	circa 250,000 to 500,000) (20).
Population	An emerging technique for local health and care partnerships
health	to use data to design new models of proactive care and
management	deliver improvements in health and wellbeing which make
programme	best use of the collective resources (33).

D-i C	A t
Primary Care	A network of general practices typically covering 30,000-
Network (PCN)	50,000 patients that provide the structure and funding for
	services to be developed locally, in response to the needs of
	the patients they serve (42).
Shared vision	A clear and aspirational statement of what the whole systems
	approach is trying to achieve (14).
Sustainability	Partnerships between NHS organisations and local councils
and	that are designed to run services in a more coordinated way,
Transformation	to agree system-wide priorities, and to plan collectively how
Partnership	to improve residents' day-to-day health (43).
(STP)	
System	A system is a collection of interdependent and interconnected
Cyclom	parts. If something happens to one part of the system, other
	parts of the system will be affected. A complex system is
	made up of many parts which interact in a disordered and
	unpredictable way (14).
	p. 34.04.04.05 (1.1).
	In the NHS and more widely the term 'systems' is used both
	to describe the local system across which a whole systems
	approach is taken and to describe a specific ICS level (see
	below). Whilst either meaning may be present in this report,
	the context should make it clear which is being referred to.
Systems	Systems leadership is about working across services and
leadership	organisations, often in circumstances of considerable
leadership	complexity and building relationships with others to improve
	outcomes for the populations served, despite the challenges
	faced (44).
System level	A level of ICS in which the whole area's health and care
(NHS)	partners in different sectors come together to set strategic
(14110)	direction and to develop economies of scale (populations
	circa 1 million to 3 million) (20).
System	A process to identify and visually represent how the local
mapping (for	causes of physical activity are linked (14).
physical	oddoos of physical delivity are lifthed (14).
activity)	
Systems	A way of looking at, learning about, and understanding
thinking	complex situations (14)
Whole systems	A local whole systems approach responds to complexity
approach	through an ongoing, dynamic and flexible way of working. It
αρρισαστι	enables local stakeholders, including communities, to come
	together, share an understanding of the reality of the
	challenge, consider how the local system is operating and
	where there are the greatest opportunities for change.

Stakeholders agree actions and decide as a network how to
work together in an integrated way to bring about
sustainable, long term systems change (14).

References

- (1) Ding D, Varela A, Bauman A, Ekelund U, Lee I-M, Heath G, Katmarzyk P, Reis R, Pratt M. Towards better evidence-informed global action: lessons learnt from the Lancet series and recent developments in physical activity and public health. British Journal of Sports Medicine 2020; 54: 462-468.
- (2) Scarborough P, Cowburn G, Cobiac L, Foster C, Matthews A, Milton K, Thomas E, Wilkins E, Rayner M. Translating the World Health Organization 25x25 goals into a United Kingdom context: The PROMISE study. London: Richmond Group, 2016.
- (3) Public Health England. Cycling and walking for individual and population health benefits. London: PHE, 2018.
- (4) Sport England. Active Lives Survey Nov 18/19. London: Sport England. London, 2020
- (5) Government Office for Science's Foresight Tackling Obesities Future Choices Project Report (2007)
- (6) Rutter H, Cavill N, Bauman A, Bull F. Systems approaches to global and national physical activity plans. Bulletin of the World Health Organization 2019; 162-165.
- (7) Public Health England. Everybody active, everyday: An evidence-based approach to physical activity. London: PHE, 2014.
- (8) WHO The global action plan on physical activity 2018 2030. Geneva: WHO, 2018
- (9) Rutter H, Cavill N, Bauman A, Bull F. (2019) Systems approaches to global andnational physical activity plans Bulletin of the World Health Organization, 97, pp.162-165 doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.2471/BLT.18.220533 PMID:30728623
- (10) Sport England (2020) Social and economic value of community sport and physical activity. Available at: https://www.sportengland.org/how-we-can-help/measuring-impact?section=social_and_economic_value_of_community_sport
- (11) Public Health Matters (2018) Clinical Champions. Available at: https://publichealthmatters.blog.gov.uk/2018/06/21/clinical-champions-embedding-physical-activity-into-routine-clinical-care/
- (12) Moving Medicine . Active Hospitals. Available at: https://movingmedicine.ac.uk/active-hospitals/
- (13) Sport England (2020) Moving Healthcare Professionals. Available at: https://www.sportengland.org/campaigns-and-our-work/moving-healthcare-professionals (14) Public Health England. Whole systems approach to obesity: A guide to support
- approaches to promoting a health weight London: PHE, 2019.
- (15) Bagnall A-M, Radley D, Jones R, Gately P, Nobles J, Van Dijk M, et al. Whole systems approaches to obesity and other complex public health challenges: a systematic review. BMC Public Health 2019; 19(1): 8.
- (16) Sport England. Transforming the delivery of physical activity locally London: Sport England, 2017 https://www.sportengland.org/news/transforming-the-delivery-of-physical-activity-locally [updated by Sport England 2020 personal communication].

- (17) Active Partnerships. About Active Partnerships. Available at: https://www.activepartnerships.org/about-us.[accessed: 09.10.20]
- (18) The NHS Long Term Plan London: NHS England, 2019.
- (19) Reed S, Gopfert A, Wood S, Allwood D, Warburton W. Building healthier communities: the role of the NHS as an anchor institution. London: Health Foundation, 2019
- (20) NHS England. Designing integrated care systems (ICSs) in England London: NHS England, 2019.
- (21) McClean S, Bray I, de Viggiani N, Bird E, Pilkington P. Research Methods for Public Health London: Sage, 2020.
- (22) Braun V, Clarke V. Using thematic analysis in psychology. Qualitative Research in Psychology 2006; 3: 77-101.
- (23) Ghate D, Lewis, J, Welbourn D. Systems Leadership: Exceptional leadership for exceptional times Synthesis report. Nottingham: Virtual Staff College, 2013.
- (24) National Institute for Health and Care Excellence. Perioperative care in adults: Evidence review for preoperative optimisation clinics London: NICE, 2019.
- (25) Public Health England. Physical inactivity: economic costs to NHS clinical commissioning groups. London: PHE, 2016.
- (26) Jarrett J. Woodcock J, Griffiths UK et al. Effect of increasing active travel in urban England and Wales on costs to National Health Service. Lancet 2012; 379: 2198-255.
- (27) Department of Health and Social Security/Department of Education and Science/Scottish Office/Welsh Office. Prevention and Health London: Her Majesty's Stationary Office, 1977.
- (28) Wanless D. Securing our future health: Taking a long-term view, Final report London: HM Treasury, 2002.
- (29) Parliamentary Under Secretary of State for Public Health and Primary Care. Advancing our health: prevention in the 2020s London: Her Majesty's Stationary Office, 2019.
- (30) Public Health England Cycling and walking for individual and population health benefits A rapid evidence review for health and care system decision makers London: PHE, 2018.
- https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment _data/file/757756/Cycling_and_walking_for_individual_and_population_health_benefits.pdf
- (31) Sallis JF, Adlakha D, Oyeyemi A, Salvo D. An international physical activity and public health research agenda to inform COVID-19 policies and practices. Journal of Sport and Exercise Science. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jshs.2020.05.005
- (32) Konteh F, Mannion R, Davies H. Understanding culture and culture management in the English NHS: a comparison of professional and patient perspectives. Journal of Evaluation in Clinical Practice. 2011; 17: 111-117.
- (33) NHS England. Population Health and the Population Health Management Programme. Available at: https://www.england.nhs.uk/integratedcare/building-blocks/phm/.

- (34) Sport England. Covid-19 Briefing London: Sport England, 2020. https://adobeindd.com/view/publications/793b48d5-bbcd-4de3-a50f-11d241a506b3/gtmp/publication-web-resources/pdf/COVID-19_Insight_Briefing.pdf (35) Sport England (2020) Survey into adult physical activity attitudes and behaviour,
- 15th September 2020 (wave 12). by Savanta ComRes. Available at: https://comresglobal.com/polls/sport-england-survey-into-adult-physical-activity-attitudes-and-behaviour-wave-12/
- (36) Community Leisure (2020) Community Leisure UK Covid-19 Impact Report August 2020. Available at: https://communityleisureuk.org/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/CLUK-Covid-19-Impact-Report.pdf
- (37) Gray, M. and Bird. W. (2020) Covid-19 will be followed by a deconditioning pandemic. The BMJ Opinion. Available at: https://blogs.bmj.com/bmj/2020/06/15/covid-19-will-be-followed-by-a-deconditioning-pandemic/
- (38) HM Government. Our Plan to Rebuild: The UK Government's COVID-19 recovery strategy London: HM Government, 2020.
- (39) Sport England. Shaping our Future https://www.sportengland.org/why-were-here/shaping-our-future-strategy London: Sport England, 2020.
- (40) NHS England (2020) Integrated care systems. Available at: https://www.england.nhs.uk/integratedcare/integrated-care-systems/
- (41) Public Health England (2019) Health inequalities: place-based approaches to reduce inequalities. Available at: https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-inequalities-place-based-approaches-to-reduce-inequalities
- (42) NHS England. Primary care networks. Available at: https://www.england.nhs.uk/primary-care/primary-care-networks/
- (43) NHS England. Sustainability and transformation partnerships. Available at: https://www.england.nhs.uk/integratedcare/stps/
- (44) The Kings Fund (2015) The practice of system leadership. Available at: https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/sites/default/files/field/field_publication_file/System-leadership-Kings-Fund-May-2015.pdf

Appendix 1: Case studies⁶

Dorset case study

Context

Dorset is a county in South West England covered by the 2 unitary authority areas of Dorset and Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole (BCP). The county is part of an NHS integrated care system (ICS), known as 'Our Dorset', which is comprised of one NHS Clinical Commissioning Group, 6 NHS foundation trusts and Public Health Dorset.

Dorset's population stands at just above 800,000 and is increasing. It is a largely rural area with no cities and few small towns. It has an ageing population, with the proportion of adults aged 65 and above much higher than the England average (28% vs 18%, respectively), and one third of the population lives with one or more long-term health conditions. The population has significantly lower levels of Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic residents than the national average (4.4% vs 19.5%, respectively). Almost 10% of the population live in the most deprived areas of England. Physical activity levels are largely comparable with the England average, although there are pockets where physical inactivity is high.

Whole systems approach to physical activity

Dorset has been developing its own whole systems approach to physical activity for many years. Investment from Sport England and local partners led to the establishment of Active Ageing - a whole systems approach to embedding physical activity for the 55-65 population. Active Dorset collaboratively leads this work, and is one of 43 Active Partnerships across England, designed to provide a set of core services to strengthen the local delivery of physical activity. Whole systems work is integral to the Active Partnerships mission, which recognises that "[physical] activity levels are affected by a complex system of influences and no single organisation or programme [can] create sustainable change at scale."

NHS support for physical activity is highlighted in the 'Our Dorset: Sustainability and Transformation Plan' (STP) and the 'Dorset Integrated Care System (ICS) Operational Plan'. It has 3 inter-related programmes of work which are:

- prevention at scale
- integrated community services

⁶ Data presented in context sections are all sourced from resources listed in web links for each case study

 One Acute Network, with physical activity featuring most prominently in the prevention at scale programme of work, which aims to help people to stay healthy and avoid getting ill

Activities include: the development of a systematic physical activity programme; taking a whole school approach to increase physical activity levels; and, maximising the built and natural environment to improve health and wellbeing outcomes, including physical activity.

Another area of whole systems work, driven largely by collaboration between Active Dorset, Public Health Dorset, and the NHS CCG, is focused on 3 areas of physical activity promotion: primary and secondary care (targeted at individuals receiving advice from a health professional); workforce (targeted at public sector workers nearing retirement); and, localities and schools (targeting inactive parents and grandparents of children). The aim is to work across systems, care pathways and specialties to identify points in the system at which physical activity messages or interventions can be delivered; shifting the focus from individual-level behaviour change to a whole systems approach to physical activity.

A key activity has been the development of system changes at primary and secondary care levels. Examples of changes made to primary care pathways include: physical activity promotion training for all primary care staff; the inclusion of physical activity in the specification for commissioning of the National Diabetes Prevention Programme and re-commissioning of the NHS Health Checks programme. Efforts have also been made to embed physical activity into secondary care pathways, including cancer, musculoskeletal disorders, and pre-habilitation.

Enablers

Whole systems working on physical activity in Dorset has been enabled by a variety of factors. Firstly, Dorset has benefitted from intensive input from Active Dorset in creating and influencing physical activity system change. This has occurred through the provision of physical activity-specific skills and expertise from Active Dorset to NHS and Public Health Dorset partners. Second, time has been essential for building trust and relationships across sectors. The presence of enthusiastic, committed and connected individuals working across local authority public health teams, the voluntary and community sector, and CCGs has been integral to progress. Further, the identification and engagement of key partners working in specific primary and secondary care speciality areas has created a sense of shared ownership and provided opportunities for shared learning across NHS care pathways.

Challenges

Key challenges include the pace of change within the NHS and high levels of disruption in the system; this has resulted in physical activity promotion within NHS settings not always being seen as a priority. Second, physical activity is not traditionally considered or embedded when designing NHS services or pathways, or when commissioning programmes or projects; whole systems approaches to physical activity therefore challenge the status quo. Third, despite positive engagement from NHS systems leaders at some levels, the identification of 'change agents' within acute settings has been difficult to establish. This is coupled with the issue of limited capacity and financial resources, which has made it difficult for partners to work effectively across sectors.

Key learning

The Dorset case study has shown that whole systems approaches to physical activity require time to build trust and relationships. It also highlights the importance of finding and working with enthusiastic and committed key partners from all sectors. The engagement of NHS systems leaders in whole systems approaches to physical activity may require a culture change, which moves away from the traditional medical model of care, to a place where NHS systems leaders are supported to consider and embed physical activity throughout treatment pathways.

Contacts

Charlie Coward, Deputy CEO, Active Dorset (ccoward@activedorset.org)

Web links

Active Dorset Strategy 2020-2025 [short version]. Available from https://www.activedorset.org/active-dorset-strategy-2020-2025

Our Dorset Sustainability and Transformation Plan for local health and care. Available from https://www.dorsetccg.nhs.uk/project/stp/

Dorset Integrated Care System Operational Plan 2018/19 Refresh. Available from https://www.dorsetccg.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/Dorset-ICS-Operating-Plan-V7-01.05.2018.pdf

Essex case study

Context

Essex is a two-tier authority with Essex County Council and 12 district or borough councils. It is one of the largest local authorities in England and includes the city of Chelmsford as well as the towns of Basildon and Colchester. In addition, there are 2 unitary authorities not included in the County Council: Thurrock and Southend-on-Sea. There are 7 CCGs in Essex, 5 in the area covered by the County Council. The Suffolk and North East Essex ICS covers part of Essex whilst there is also a Mid and South Essex Health and Care Partnership in the rest of the county.

The population of Essex County Council is approximately 1,400,000. The population of the county is ageing (with more over 65s on average than England as a whole) and the life expectancy gap is widening with significant health inequalities (although deprivation scores are slightly better overall than for England). One in three 10 and 11 year olds and two-thirds of adults are overweight or obese. Mental health issues are common, and the number of suicides has increased. Approximately 24% of the population are classified as inactive.

Whole systems approach to physical activity

Essex was successful in becoming one of 12 Sport England funded local delivery pilots (LDP). The pilot is being tested in the low-income communities of Basildon, Colchester and Tendring which together represent 37% of all inactive people in Essex and represent areas with a range of barriers to physical activity such as post war urban planning, coastal deprivation and poor social mobility. The LDP has identified 3 priority groups to work with: older people, people with mental ill-health and families with dependent children. The LDP is Essex-wide, with a commitment to rapidly scale up the successful testing across the county.

The LDP is hosted by the County Council and managed by Active Essex, funded by Sport England and involves a large number of stakeholders and partners. NHS commitment to the LDP is reflected by the membership of one CCG accountable officer on the Board of Active Essex, the partnership commitment of the 2 CCGs that cover Basildon, Colchester and Tendring, and the strategic stewardship of the LDP by the Essex Health and Wellbeing Board. The LDP partners with Intelligent Health to provide expert advice on physical activity, and partners with the University of Essex to provide robust evaluation of the LDP. Public Health England is also a strategic partner through their East region. The progress of the LDP is documented on the Active Essex website.

From the outset the LDP has been committed to a whole systems approach. Active Essex are working with a main whole system change partner, Collaborate CIC on a range of activities to support whole systems working. In the first phase diagnostic work

identified the strengths and weaknesses of system leadership in Essex, and the need for bespoke training and development programme. The work includes evaluation of the impact of the systems work and development of toolkits and resources to help translate the learning from the 3 districts to other parts of Essex. The first year was mainly focused on diagnostic and discovery work, having conversations, building relationships, developing the shared vision, and agreement on priorities and plans going forward; the focus then switched to delivery, particularly upskilling the workforce across sectors to be able to integrate physical activity into their existing delivery.

Enablers

The LDP is a key enabler in Essex. It provided time – time to think, to do the discovery phase and the diagnostic, to build the shared vision and identify priorities, to get the sign-up from partners, especially leaders across 7 different system settings. Building relationships was also a key enabler with regard to the NHS, particularly with CCGs, getting the LDP recognised as a CCG priority, having CCG input at Board level. Getting senior buy-in was crucial from the Health and Wellbeing Board, the councils and CCGs. Having a respected doctor from Intelligent Health as one of their expert partners was important in engaging GPs and other health professionals.

Challenges

A key challenge was the constant change in the system, particularly in the NHS, just when they thought they had a grip on the architecture, it would then change. The LDP needed to make multiple attempts to engage the NHS, and sometimes it was just not the right time, so they would have to wait and try again. NHS trusts were not easy to engage with, often conversations had to be mediated through the CCGs. There appeared to be a lack of joined up working on both the commissioning and delivery sides of the NHS. Commissioning appeared more transactional than collaborative. There were a number of examples of lack of joined up thinking, for example, physical activity is meant to be a priority in mental health, but mental health staff lack training in how to promote it. There were challenges in evaluating the LDP, and some tensions between the extent to which evaluation could focus on hard outcomes as opposed to process. The culture and language of the NHS was often difficult to understand for the LDP team, and the inclusion of Intelligent Health acted as a positive bridge between the LDP and health agencies and professionals.

Key learning

Key learning in Essex included the importance of taking the time to do the discovery and diagnostic phase, to map the system and build the shared vision. Other learning was the need to find champions with credibility in other organisations/sectors, for example senior managers within the CCGs and keen GPs in PCNs who would advocate the critical role of physical activity. The nurturing of these relationships was critical to the impact of the LDP. The involvement of a credible and expert external partner in Intelligent Health in

providing briefings and training to board members and senior CCG managers was also crucial. The Essex experience was that CCGs were key to engaging with the wider NHS as was gaining ownership from the Health and Wellbeing Board as well as that of local alliances bringing together NHS organisations and the community and voluntary sector.

Contact

Jason Fergus, Director of Active Essex (Jason.Fergus@essex.gov.uk)

Web links

Active Essex https://www.activeessex.org/

Essex LDP https://www.activeessex.org/essex-local-delivery-pilot/

Kirklees case study

Context

Kirklees is an area of West Yorkshire covered by one local authority, Kirklees Council, and 2 NHS clinical commissioning groups, Greater Huddersfield and North Kirklees. It is also part of a NHS integrated care system: West Yorkshire and Harrogate Health and Care Partnership. Around 440,000 people live in Kirklees with the population spread between the larger town of Huddersfield and a number of smaller towns. The population of Kirklees is diverse, around 79% White and 21% from Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic backgrounds. There are significant levels of health inequalities, particularly affecting Black, Asian and Minority Ethnic communities. The population is also ageing, with particular growth in the over 65s. Levels of physical activity are significantly lower than the average for England overall, and have been declining.

Whole systems approach to physical activity

Kirklees was unsuccessful in its bid to host a Sport England local delivery pilot but has sought to develop its own whole systems approach to physical activity. Support for physical activity is a key theme of the 'Kirklees Health and Wellbeing Plan 2018-2023'. In addition there is an 'Everybody Active: Kirklees Physical Activity and Sports Strategy 2015-2020', overseen by a Kirklees Everybody Active Board. Activities have included the Board bringing together a range of stakeholders to develop a whole systems approach to tackling physical activity across the district. The local physical activity system was mapped, to help identify priorities and future planning, and ultimately raise physical activity rates.

Another whole systems initiative was the Kirklees Healthy Weight Declaration, endorsed and owned by the Health and Wellbeing Board, the Council, the CCGs and other partners. The Declaration was launched in March 2019 and a Health Weight Declaration Strategic Steering Group has now been set up to oversee implementation, including co-production with local communities.

A further systems approach, not limited to physical activity but benefiting this area of work among others, has been the 'Kirklees Integrated Systems Leadership Development Strategy 2019-2021'. Masterclasses on systems leadership have been offered across Kirklees partner organisations in the public and voluntary and community sectors, with a particular emphasis on involving those not formally in senior roles. Similarly, work in progress on the Kirklees-wide 'Estates Strategy' includes a focus on how to use the estates of all partners to encourage physical activity rather than simply address issues of managing 'bricks and mortar.'

Enablers

Whole systems working on physical activity in Kirklees has been enabled by a variety of factors. There are long term relationships between some of the key individuals involved and an active district activity partnership. There is a virtual core team of individuals working across the local authority and the CCGs who see their role as working for the system rather than for individual organisations. The strategic sign-up of the council, the CCGs and other partners through the Joint Kirklees Senior Management Team and the Chief Executives Group mean that the key individuals feel empowered to take forward the whole systems approach without needing to continually seek permissions for individual initiatives.

Challenges

Everyone in the local authority, the NHS and other sectors are very busy and capacity to engage is limited without the additional resource the LDP would have brought. Resources are often seen by partners as a barrier when trying to innovate. It has been easier to engage the CCGs and primary care than it has been to engage the NHS acute sector.

Key learning

Even without addition resources, it is possible to adopt a whole systems approach to physical activity. The Kirklees case study demonstrates the value of explicitly adopting a whole systems approach by providing systems leadership development opportunities to local stakeholders and to conducting early systems mapping. Underlying such activities are the importance of a shared vision, executive level buy-in and building and sustaining good personal relationships between key individuals facilitating the systems work.

Contacts

Martin Gonzalez, Development Manager – Sports and Physical Activity (martin.gonzalez@kirklees.gov.uk)

Web links

Everybody Active: Kirklees Physical Activity and Sports Strategy 2015-2020 www.kirklees.gov.uk/beta/planning-policy/pdf/supportingDocuments/healthCommunities/EverybodyActiveStrategy.pdf

South Tees case study

Context

South Tees comprises the 2 unitary authority areas of Redcar and Cleveland and Middlesbrough in the North East of England. The area sits within the Tees Valley integrated care partnership (ICP), one of 4 partnerships making up the North East and North Cumbria NHS integrated care system (ICS). Joint working is a key feature of the 2 authorities of South Tees, with many services and agencies specifically servicing the area, including: NHS South Tees Clinical Commissioning Group; South Tees Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust; and the South Tees GP Federation. Public leisure facilities are managed by Everyone Active on behalf of both boroughs. The 2 boroughs share a joint Director of Public Health and jointly commission a wide range of services.

The population of South Tees is approximately 280,000. It is geographically diverse, with the rural area of East Cleveland, coastal communities of Redcar and Saltburn, and the large town of Middlesbrough. It has significant social and economic issues, which contribute to significant inequalities in health. Physical activity levels in Redcar and Cleveland are largely comparable with the England average, while levels in Middlesbrough are significantly below the national average.

Whole systems approach to physical activity

Investment in December 2017 from Sport England's local delivery pilot (LDP) initiative is supporting the area to increase physical activity through whole systems change. South Tees' vision for the LDP, also known as 'You've Got This', is to "use sport and physical activity to drive improvement to wider social determinants across health, educational attainment, employment and community cohesion". LDP work is led by the Programme Management Office, with membership comprising senior officers of the 2 local authorities, the Director of a key voluntary sector partner, a Senior Manager of a commercial sector partner, a senior officer from the Active Partnership, the Sport England LDP Manager, and members of the core delivery team. The general principles and vision for the LDP were identified and agreed by more than 160 local stakeholders at a whole system change conference held soon after receipt of funding.

One area of LDP whole systems work closely linked to the NHS is focused on 4 communities of interest: people suitable for pre-habilitation prior to surgery; people with type 2 diabetes; people accessing community-based commercial weight loss services; and, health professionals. These streams represent areas of work where cross-sector relationships and/or partnerships may have already existed but have not developed beyond initial discussions or the delivery of small-scale behaviour change interventions. Group membership of each stream represents a broad range of organisations: the local NHS trust; Clinical Commissioning Group; national agencies and local leaders across a

range of occupational levels, including a Clinical Director, specialist nurses, consultants, dieticians, public health specialists and academics from a range of institutes. Members of each stream are working together to develop "deeper insight into the barriers, levers, challenges and opportunities" to progress physical activity ambitions for South Tees. The ultimate aim of the South Tees LDP is to use learning to develop appropriate interventions that support and facilitate a positive change in behaviour.

One example of good practice comes from the pre-habilitation workstream, led by an NHS Consultant with a keen interest in physical activity, with support from the local authority public health team and other organisations. As part of the pre-habilitation pilot, a face-to face community based physical activity programme was offered to patients in the 6 to 8 weeks prior to surgery. The programme was developed over the course of a year, based on a cardiac rehabilitation model. Patients completed a lifestyle assessment and were supported to agree a personalised programme with additional activities at home. Lessons learned are now being used to remodel the pre-habilitation service and are being shared with other workstreams and wider primary and secondary care pathways.

Enablers

Time to build and sustain relationships has been central to whole systems work in South Tees. While some cross-sector relationships and/or partnerships were already established, LDP investment created opportunities for more formal collaboration. As seen in other case studies, the presence of partners working across the system with enthusiasm and commitment to physical activity promotion has been integral to success.

Challenges

Even with LDP funding, central pressures on the NHS – particularly in the acute sector – (for example siloed working, limited time, target culture, and high staff turnover) have made cross-sector engagement difficult. Related to this, the physical activity agenda is not always seen as a priority among those in NHS leadership roles.

Key learning

The South Tees case study identified the importance of individual enthusiasm and commitment in driving forward the physical activity agenda. The case study also emphasised the value of taking time to build relationships across sectors and develop a shared long-term vision.

Contacts

Scott Lloyd, Advanced Public Health Practitioner, Public Health South Tees (scott lloyd@middlesbrough.gov.uk)

Web links

You've Got This Pathfinder Submission Sport England Local Delivery Pilots www.sportengland.org/campaigns-and-our-work/local-delivery

Appendix 2: Interview schedule

Engaging NHS systems leaders in whole systems approaches (WSA) to physical activity (PA): interview questions

Three categories of interviewees, requiring slightly different interview schedules, are:

- national stakeholders
- local (non-NHS) stakeholders in WSA to PA
- local NHS systems leaders

National stakeholders

What is your role and interest in whole systems/system-wide/place-based approaches to physical activity (PA) or more broadly?

What do you understand a whole systems approach (WSA) (or system-wide/place-based approach) to mean?

What does systems leaders mean to you? What do you perceive systems leaders to mean to you?

Who are the local (and national) NHS systems leaders who should be engaged in WSA/system-wide/place-based approaches to PA? How are they defined?

How would you anticipate/should NHS systems leaders be engaged in WSA/system-wide/place-based approaches to PA? At what level? In what way?

Do you have any examples of effective NHS systems leaders engagement in WSA to/system-wide/place-based approaches PA you can share?

What do you believe are the success criteria/what good looks like for a WSA to PA?

To what extent do you perceive these aspects to be present in local systems?

What are the local and national barriers and enablers that discourage/encourage collaboration across the system?

engagement within the NHS?

 engagement between the NHS, local government and other stakeholders that is businesses, community and voluntary sector?

What is the role of NHS system leaders in local WSA to PA/PA initiatives and the wider system?

How can (or do) NHS systems leaders link population health management with WSA on PA?

What is required to (further) engage and integrate key NHS systems leaders in WSA to PA?

Have you heard or read of PHE's WSA to obesity? Do you have any thoughts/feedback on this? Are you aware of or using any other guidance on WSA to PA? What are your thoughts on best way to communicate guidance?

Local (non-NHS) stakeholders

What is your role in the system generally, and in WSA to PA/PA initiatives specifically?

What do you understand a whole systems approach (WSA) (or system-wide/place-based approach) to mean?

Can you describe the local PA initiatives and their location in the wider system?

To what extent would you describe this as a WSA to PA?

What does systems leaders mean to you? What do you perceive systems leaders to mean to you?

Who are the NHS systems leaders who should be engaged in WSA to PA? How are they defined?

What is the role (if any) of NHS system leaders in local WSA to PA?

How should NHS systems leaders be engaged in WSA to PA? At what level? In what way?

What are the challenges for non-NHS stakeholders in engaging NHS systems leaders on WSA to PA

Do you have any examples of engaging NHS systems leaders in WSA to PA? How was this done?

What do you believe are the success criteria/what good looks like for a WSA to PA?

To what extent do you perceive these aspects to be present in local systems?

What are the local and national barriers and enablers that discourage/ encourage:

- collaboration across the system?
- engagement within the NHS?
- engagement between the NHS, local government and other stakeholders?

What is required to (further) engage and integrate key NHS systems leaders in WSA to PA?

Have you heard or read of PHE's WSA to obesity? Do you have any thoughts/feedback on this? Are you aware of or using any other guidance on WSA to PA? What are your thoughts on best way to communicate guidance?

Local NHS systems leaders

What is your role in the system generally, and in the local WSA to PA/PA initiatives specifically?

What do you understand a whole systems approach (WSA) (or system-wide/place-based approach) to mean?

Can you describe the local PA initiatives and their location in the wider system?

To what extent would you describe this as a WSA to PA?

What does systems leaders mean to you? What do you perceive systems leaders to mean to you?

How should you and other NHS systems leaders be engaged in WSA to PA? At what level? In what way? Do you recognise this as your role?

What do you believe are the success criteria/what good looks like for a WSA to PA?

To what extent do you perceive these aspects to be present in local systems?

What are the local and national barriers and enablers that discourage/encourage your engagement in collaboration on PA across the system?

How can (or do) NHS systems leaders link population health management (PHM) with WSA on PA? And what do you see as the opportunities with PHM being a core component of ICSs.

How would you see yourself and other key NHS systems leaders engaging in WSA (or system-wide/place-based approach) to PA? What would help?

Have you heard or read of PHE's WSA to obesity? Do you have any thoughts/feedback on this? Are you aware of or using any other guidance on WSA to PA? What are your thoughts on best way to communicate guidance?

Appendix 3: Making the case outline

A clear message from the interviews and webinar was the need for resources for local physical activity partnerships to help make the case to NHS stakeholders for engaging in whole systems approaches to physical activity. Key issues include:

- senior NHS stakeholders are very busy
- they do not necessarily know the evidence base on the benefits of physical activity
- guidance on engaging in whole systems approaches to physical activity may not be easily accessible to them

Therefore, participants suggested the need for some concise and accessible resources that help make the case and signpost NHS stakeholders to the evidence and actions they can take and further resources. However, different NHS stakeholders will be most likely to be influenced by different cases specific to their roles, thus there is a need to identify more specifically the target audiences for such 'making the case' resources, for example:

- ICS/STP programme leads
- CCG accountable officers and commissioning managers
- · trust chief executives, directors and senior managers
- senior trust clinicians
- GPs

There could be a menu of options that, in different combinations, would influence different stakeholders to more or less degree, these could cover:

- CQUINs and other aspects of NHS performance management
- evidence-based guidance (for example NICE)
- research evidence (for example trust chief executives and directors are likely to be influenced by evidence that demonstrates how promoting physical activity to staff and patients will have short to medium term financial benefits and reduce bed days)
- impacts of changing active travel behaviour in staff, visitors and patients
- guidance to trust clinicians on how including physical activity in clinical pathways improves patient outcomes
- stories, examples and case studies they can learn from
- patient and public involvement

The format of each 'making the case' document should be concise, preferably one page, with plain English and attractive design, and signposting and hyperlinks to key resources. For example, the resource for ICS/STP programme leads might be a case study drawn from another ICS/STP which has integrated a whole systems approach to physical activity into their population health management strategy.

About Public Health England

Public Health England exists to protect and improve the nation's health and wellbeing, and reduce health inequalities. We do this through world-leading science, research, knowledge and intelligence, advocacy, partnerships and the delivery of specialist public health services. We are an executive agency of the Department of Health and Social Care, and a distinct delivery organisation with operational autonomy. We provide government, local government, the NHS, Parliament, industry and the public with evidence-based professional, scientific and delivery expertise and support.

Public Health England Wellington House 133-155 Waterloo Road London SE1 8UG Tel: 020 7654 8000

www.gov.uk/phe
Twitter: @PHE uk

www.facebook.com/PublicHealthEngland

© Crown copyright 2020

Prepared by: David Evans, Emma Bird and Selena Gray, Centre for Public Health and Wellbeing, University of the West of England, Bristol (UWE Bristol) working with Elizabeth Atherton, Jessica Lee, Charlene Simon, Nicola Corrigan, Michael Brannan, Ellen Lithgow and Jamie Blackshaw, Public Health England For queries relating to this document, please contact: david9.evans@uwe.ac.uk



You may re-use this information (excluding logos) free of charge in any format or medium, under the terms of the Open Government Licence v3.0. To view this licence, visit OGL. Where we have identified any third party copyright information you will need to obtain permission from the copyright holders concerned.

Published November 2020 PHE gateway number: GW-1716



PHE supports the UN Sustainable Development Goals

